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Orion Douglas Memmott    ORIGINAL FILED 

309 St. Michael Ct.     October 19, 2023 

Chico, Butte County, California 95973 

Telephone: (831) 207-6782    Clerk U.S. DISTRICT COURT  

Email: douglasmemm@gmail.com   EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

Plaintiff, Pro Se 

 

 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

 

 

      * 

ORION DOUGLAS MEMMOTT,  * VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR   

 Plaintiff.    * INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND FOR A  

      * CIVIL CASE 

  v.    * 

      * (28 U.S.C. § 1332; Diversity of Citizenship) 

DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL   *  

SERVICES OF LINCOLN COUNTY, *  Case No. 2:23 – CV2383 DAD DMC PS 

NORTH CAROLINA (LCDSS),  *  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS CHRYSTAL * A jury trial on all matters triable by jury is 

HOYLE, SHERRY HOYLE, JILL EADDY, * demanded. 

DAPHNE INGRAM, AND CATHY  * 

DAVIS,     * 

 Defendants, and   * 

      * 

MATTHEW HILLMAN,   * 

 Defendant, and   * 

      * 

KELLY MILES,    * 

 Defendant, and   * 

      *      

JESSICA FIELDING  YELVERTON, * 

 Defendant, and   *  

      * 

KELLY PENDLETON    * 

 Defendant, and   * 

      * 

MENDIE KELLY,    * 

 Defendant, and   * 

      * 

(CONTINUED ON THE NEXT PAGE) * 
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ALLISON BLACK,    * 

 Defendant, and   * 

      * 

SANDY HOUSER,    * 

 Defendant, and   * 

      * 

LAUREN WHITESIDES,   * 

 Defendant, and   * 

      * 

APRIL GULLATE,    * 

 Defendant, and   * 

      * 

BRITTANY DEAL    * 

 Defendant, and   * 

      * 

JASON HUGHES    * 

 Defendant, and   * 

      * 

ASHLEY WESSON    * 

 Defendant, and   * 

      * 

BRENDA  KELLY-KIRBY   * 

 Defendant, and   * 

      * 

ANN KILLIAN    * 

 Defendant, and   * 

      * 

ANN PAYSEUR    * 

 Defendant, and   * 

      * 

CHARLES BOHLEN    * 

 Defendant, and   * 

      * 

NORMA BOHLEN    * 

 Defendant, and   * 

      * 

SIX UNKNOWN FOSTER PARENTS * 

OF FAITH HARRIS AND RYAN HARRIS * 

TO BE IDENTIFIED    * 

 Defendants, and   * 

      * 

TEN UNKNOWN SOCIAL WORKERS * 

AND/OR EMPLOYEES OF LCDSS TO * 

BE IDENTIFIED    * 

 Defendants.    * 
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PLEADING UNKNOWN DEFENDANTS 

 

 1. Gillispie v. Civiletti, 629 F. 2d 637 (9th Cir. 1980), held that where a 

plaintiff is unaware of the identity of alleged defendants, “plaintiff should be given an 

opportunity through discovery to identify the unknown defendants…”  None of the 

unknown defendants reside in California, and, on information and belief, all of the 

unknown defendants reside in North Carolina.   

 2. The Lincoln County Department of Social Services and Matthew Hillman, 

Director, and Fielding Yelverton, Legal Counsel, have refused to provide Plaintiff with 

the names of the social workers and employees and foster parents and others who 

participated in the actions which violated the rights of Plaintiff, as alleged herein.   

 3. Discovery to reveal the identities of the unknown defendants will be 

initiated as soon as possible. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 4. This court is granted jurisdiction over this matter under 28 U.S.C. § 1332.  

Plaintiff, an individual citizen and resident of California, is suing Defendants, none of 

whom are citizens or residents of California.  The amount in controversy is greater than 

$75,000.00, not counting interest and costs of court.  Plaintiff is domiciled in Chico, 

California.  None of the defendants are domiciled in California. 

 5. Venue of this action is in the Eastern District of California pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1391.  “A civil action may be brought in… (2) a judicial district in which a 

substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred….”  All of the 
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events giving rise to the claims sued hereon and where Plaintiff suffered violations of his 

rights occurred in the Eastern District of California.  Plaintiff resides in the Eastern 

District of California.  This case should be assigned to the Sacramento Division because a 

substantial part of the acts or omissions which give rise to this lawsuit occurred in Butte, 

Glenn, and Colusa counties. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff 

6. Plaintiff is the stepfather of Amanda Harris (Amanda).  Amanda was a 

teenager when Plaintiff became her “Dad” by marrying her mother, Donna Harris 

(Donna). 

7.  Amanda is the mother of Ryan Robert Harris (Ryan), now twelve years old, 

and Faith Leigh Harris (Faith), now five years old.   

8. Their home has been with Plaintiff in Chico, California from the day Faith 

was born. 

9. Plaintiff has raised and supported Ryan and Faith in loco parentis for their 

entire lives.  Both children were born out of wedlock, with absentee fathers.  Plaintiff 

attended each of their births and assumed the role of de facto parent and custodial 

caretaker of each of them.  Plaintiff is the only father either of the children has ever 

known.   

10. Plaintiff, as the children’s “Papa,” established a permanent familial 

relationship with each of the children.  Plaintiff has provided all the children’s needs, 
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including their home and necessities, their medical care, their schooling, and, most 

importantly, love.  The bond between Plaintiff and each of the children is everlasting.   

11. Under the law, Plaintiff is considered to be a nonrelative extended family 

member who has an established… familial… relationship with [each of the children], and 

a ‘relative who is an adult’… related to [each of the children] by… affinity… as a 

stepparent… responsible for [the children’s] health and welfare, and entrusted with [their] 

care…” 

Defendants 

 12. Defendant, Lincoln County Department of Social Services, 1136 E. Main 

Street, Lincolnton, North Carolina 28093-0130, is an agency of Lincoln County, North 

Carolina, charged with child protective services, among other things.  The designation 

“LCDSS” refers to the Lincoln County Department of Social Services and, as the context 

requires, the other defendants.  All of the defendants share the LCDSS address set forth 

above.   

13. The Board of Directors of the LCDSS, which is charged with responsibility 

for the actions of the LCDSS, are defendants Chrystal Hoyle, Sherry Hoyle, Jill Eaddy, 

Daphne Ingram, and Cathy Davis (Board of Directors).  The Director of the LCDSS is 

Matthew Hillman (Hillman).  The Deputy Director of the LCDSS is Kelly Miles (Miles).  

The legal counsel for the LCDSS, responsible for providing legal representation to the 

director, employees, and the board of the LCDSS, is Jessica Fielding Yelverton 

(Yelverton).   
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 14. Defendant Kelly Pendleton (Pendleton) is a Social Worker of the LCDSS.  

Defendant Mendie Kelly (Kelly) is a Children’s Services Program Manager of the 

LCDSS.  Defendant Allison Black (Black) is a Child Protective Services Supervisor of 

the LCDSS. Defendant Sandy Houser (Houser) is a Child Protective Services Supervisor 

of the LCDSS.  Defendant Lauren Whitesides (Whitesides) is a Child Protective Services 

Supervisor of the LCDSS.  Defendant April Gulate (Gulate) is a Foster Care/Adoptions 

Supervisor of the LCDSS.  Defendant Brittany Deal (Deal) is a Foster Care/Adoptions 

Supervisor of the LCDSS.  Defendant Jason Hughes (Hughes) is a Children’s Services 

Program Manager of the LCDSS.  Defendant Ashley Wesson (Wesson) is a Social Worker 

of the LCDSS.  Defendant Brenda Kelly-Kirby (Kirby) is a Social Worker of the LCDSS.  

Defendant Ann Killian (Killian) is a Guardian Ad Litum Supervisor of the LCDSS.  

Defendant Ann Payseur (Payseur) is a Guardian Ad Litum Attorney Advocate of the 

LCDSS.  Defendant Charles Bohlen (C Bohlen) is a Guardian Ad Litum of the LCDSS.  

Defendant Norma Bohlen (N Bohlen) is a Guardian Ad Litum of the LCDSS.  

Defendants Six Unknown Foster Parents of Faith Harris and Ryan Harris are to be 

identified through discovery.  Defendants, Ten Unknown Social Workers and/or 

Employees of the LCDSS are to be identified through discovery. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 15. Ryan and Faith, two remarkably bright and attractive children, became the 

subjects of an investigation by the LCDSS while the children were in North Carolina 

visiting Donna and staying with their mother in a home on Donna’s property. 
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 16. Amanda’s stepsister, Bonnie Manning (Manning), was involved in a dispute 

with her mother, and carried a grudge against Amanda because Amanda was staying on 

Donna’s property.  Manning spitefully lied to her friend, Pendleton, that Ryan and Faith 

were in need of child protective services.    

 17. The defendants do not dispute that the LCDSS opened a case and, after a 

thorough investigation, the LCDSS determined that there was no need for Ryan and Faith 

to receive any protective services and closed the case, which ended the LCDSS’s legal 

involvement with the children.   

 18. The defendants do not dispute that on April 6, 2023, the LCDSS issued a 

letter to Amanda that indicated that the LCDSS had found the children to be well and safe 

and that the LCDSS would no longer be involved: 

“Regarding Ryan and Faith: We have completed the Family Assessment.  The 

following determination has been made:  No need of services…  Your case will be 

closed.”  Please see Exhibit One. 

 

 19. The defendants do not dispute that the LCDSS had previously confirmed 

that Ryan and Faith were no longer in North Carolina.  Pendleton texted Plaintiff on April 

3, 2023, acknowledging that Amanda, who the LCDSS had confirmed had custody of 

Faith, had given Plaintiff permission to take Faith back to Faith’s home in California.  

Please see Exhibit Two. 

 20. On April 5, 2023, the day before the letter closing the case was issued, 

Valerie, a LCDSS social worker, in a virtual face to face telephone contact with Plaintiff 
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and Ryan and Faith, had determined that the children were safe and well in Plaintiff’s 

care in their home in Chico, California.  Please see Exhibit Three. 

 21. Despite the lack of authority over the children, and after issuing the letter 

closing the case, the LCDSS filed a non-noticed, perjurious petition in a North Carolina, 

Lincoln County court to secretly obtain a five day Temporary Nonsecure Custody Order 

over Faith. 

 22. Later actions by the LCDSS confirmed that the LCDSS had hatched a plan 

to abduct both children from California, unlawfully transport them to North Carolina, and 

unlawfully deposit them in the LCDSS foster care system. 

 23. Filing a non-noticed perjurious petition with a North Carolina, Lincoln 

County court to get a custody order was part of the plan. 

 24. North Carolina law requires that, absent a critical emergency, notice of 

filing a petition relating to custody of a child must be served on the person having 

physical custody of the child.   

 25. The defendants do not dispute that, despite knowing that both Ryan and 

Faith were in Plaintiff’s physical custody in California, the LCDSS did not serve notice 

of the petition on Plaintiff, or anyone else.   

 26. The LCDSS is an all powerful agency in Lincoln County, North Carolina, 

with virtually unchecked power and authority over children.  On information and belief, 

the LCDSS routinely gets away with illegal behavior.   
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 27. The LCDSS knew that the North Carolina, Lincoln County court had no 

jurisdiction over a child that had already been determined by the LCDSS to be well and 

safe and was residing in a different state. 

 28. The LCDSS committed perjury in statements in the petition about Faith’s 

condition, and did not inform the court that the LCDSS had already determined that 

taking custody of Faith from Plaintiff was not warranted, and had closed the case, and 

that a LCDSS social worker, Valarie, just a day prior to filing the petition, had confirmed 

that Faith was safe and well in her home in California.  Please see Exhibit 4. 

 29. The perjurious statements in the LCDSS’s verified petition (underlined), 

which the court accepted as true, and upon which the court based its decision, are 

juxtaposed against the facts below: 

A. “…this court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this proceeding and 

of the person of the juvenile.”  (The court did not have jurisdiction and the 

LCDSS knew it.  Amanda had sent the children back to California and the 

LCDSS had confirmed they were well and safe there with Plaintiff.  The 

LCDSS had never had custody of the children.  On March 17, 2023, the 

LCDSS acknowledged that fact in a Temporary Parental Safety Agreement 

signed by the LCDSS that specifically stated: “I [Amanda] understand that 

I still have custody of my children and still have decision making authority 

over their wellbeing needs.”  Please see Exhibit Five.   

B. “…the juvenile has been abandoned…”  (Pendleton and Kelly admitted 

they knew from their fellow social worker, Valerie, that Faith was, in fact, 

safe and well.  Vallerie had confirmed, the day before the petition was filed, 

in a virtual face to face meeting with Ryan, Faith, and Plaintiff, that Ryan 
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and Faith were well and safe and happy in the home in which they had been 

raised by Plaintiff in California.) 

C. “…the juvenile is exposed to a substantial risk of physical injury or sexual 

abuse  because the… caretaker has created conditions likely to cause injury 

or abuse…”  (Neither Pendleton nor Kelly had seen Faith for many days.  

The only information they had about Faith was from Valerie.  They knew 

from Valerie that Faith and Ryan were safe and well in California under the 

care of their Papa, a fit parental caretaker who had raised Faith from birth, 

and that, after a virtual tour of Plaintiff’s house, Valerie had verified that 

Faith and Ryan each had their own room and were happy.  Pendleton and 

Kelly knew that the LCDSS had determined there was no need for 

LCDSS’s services, and that Faith was safe and well, and that LCDSS had 

already issued the letter to Amanda closing the case, which put a final 

LCDSS stamp of approval on Faith’s situation in California.) 

D. “…the juvenile is in need of medical treatment to cure, alleviate or prevent 

suffering serious physical harm which may result in death…”  (Pendleton 

and Kelly have admitted that they knew that the only physical problem 

Faith had were some dental cavities, and that arrangements had already 

been made with a dentist to deal with them.  Cavities are not serious 

physical harm that may result in death.  Pendleton and Kelly knew from 

their own observations, before Faith went back to California, that Faith was 

an active, healthy, little girl, with no physical problems or ailments. 

E. “…efforts to prevent the need for the juvenile’s placement were precluded 

by an immediate threat of harm to the juvenile…”   (This is the most blatant 

lie of all.  There was no emergency.  Confirming that all was well was the 

fact that the LCDSS had already determined that there was no need for 

services and had closed the case.) 
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 30. Pendleton and Kelly, in addition to perjuring themselves, concealed from 

the court that the LCDSS had ended the LCDSS investigation and closed the case after 

determining that both children were well and safe in California. 

 31. Pendleton and Kelly, knowing that the case was closed and the LCDSS had 

terminated the LCDSS’s involvement with the children, who had both returned to 

California, concealed from the court that Ryan and Faith were no longer in North 

Carolina when the petition was filed. 

 32.  Because of no notice, there was no opposition.  The petitioners presented 

the court with a perjurious petition and concealed the true facts.  It is not surprising, but 

very unfortunate that the judge took the petitioners at their word.  The court granted the 

LCDSS a five day Temporary Nonsecure Custody Order.  The LCDSS used the 

fraudulently obtained order to steal the children from their family. 

 33. Everything that the LCDSS has done since acquiring the fraudulently 

obtained order and abducting the children from Plaintiff has been tainted.  It is true that 

the 4th Amendment and the 14th Amendment were invoked by the Supreme Court of the 

United States to deal with evidentiary matters.  However, the same reasoning applies in 

this case.  The LCDSS has been exploiting their unjustly obtained power over children, 

which they managed to acquire illegally.  Everything the LCDSS has done since 

determining there was “no need of services,” and closing the case has been fruit of the 

poisoned tree. 
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 34. There has never been a legitimate determination that Plaintiff, Amanda, and 

Donna are not fit parents.  The immoral, unjustifiable placement of Faith in foster care is 

cruel punishment and cannot be legitimized no matter how much the social workers lie. 

 35. The defendants do not dispute that the same day the order was granted, the 

LCDSS faxed a copy of the perjurious petition and the fraudulently obtained order to the 

Butte County Department of Social Services (BCDSS), in Chico, California, with a letter 

requesting that the BCDSS remove Faith from Plaintiff’s custody and hold her until the 

LCDSS could send someone to come and get her.  Please see Exhibit 6. 

 36. It is not disputed by the defendants that the letter that the LCDSS faxed to 

the BCDSS is on Lincoln County, North Carolina, letterhead, under the auspices of 

“Department of Social Services – Mathew Hillman, Director, and Board of Social 

Services - Chrystal Hoyle, Chair, Alex Patton, Timothy Johnson, and Dr. Sherry Hoyle.”  

 37. The letter is signed by Pendleton and Kelly, and contains the following 

sentence: “After speaking with our legal team, Lincoln County Department of Social 

Services filed a non-secure custody order for legal and physical custody of Faith 

Harris….” 

 38. The sentence quoted is revealing.  The import of the sentence and the 

numerous lies in the letter are set forth below: 

A. The legal team included Hillman and Yelverton.  Discovery will disclose others.  It 

can be assumed that the legal team reviewed the language of the petition, or 

perhaps prepared it.   



 
COMPLAINT:  MEMMOTT V. DEPT.  OF SOCIAL SERVICES OF LINCOLN COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA, ET. AL. 

13 
 

B. Yelverton, as an officer of the court, put her license on the line by approving 

statements she knew were perjurious in a petition that was presented to a court 

regarding a child.   

C. We can be sure that Judge Champion was persuaded not to examine the veracity of 

the statements in the petition after being told, as he certainly would have been, that 

the LCDSS attorney had stamped the petition with her imprimatur. 

D. The “legal team” knew that the LCDSS had already issued a letter to Amanda 

stating that there was “No need of services…  Your case will be closed.”  The legal 

team knew that Amanda had custody and every right to send the children to 

California, back to their home with Plaintiff.  The legal team knew that Plaintiff 

had not taken Faith back to California without Amanda’s permission. 

E. The LCDSS’s letter was drafted to cast aspersions on Plaintiff.  Plaintiff had met 

with Pendleton and Valerie, and other LCDSS social workers many times and 

spoken with Yelverton more than once.  The social workers knew the history and 

the parental role Plaintiff occupied. 

F. However, their lies in the petition were so glaring they did their best to vilify 

Plaintiff, who saw through their subterfuge. 

i. It is true that Plaintiff did fly back to North Carolina to fetch Faith 

and bring her home to live with Plaintiff and her brother.   

ii. It had been determined in early March, 2023, with the LCDSS social 

worker’s and Yelverton’s approval, that Ryan should return to live 
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with Plaintiff and continue school in California, since he was able, at 

age 12, to fly by himself.  Plaintiff indicated to Amanda and Donna 

and the LCDSS that Plaintiff would come and get Faith early in 

April. 

iii. Ryan, flying by himself, returned to California on March 9, 2023, 

and plans were made for Plaintiff to fly to North Carolina to pick up 

Faith and return her to California to be with Plaintiff, her Papa, and 

her brother.  Amanda confirmed her request that Plaintiff take Faith 

home to California. 

iv. It is realleged that the LCDSS, after investigation, had determined 

neither of the children was at risk and had prepared a Temporary 

Parental Safety Agreement confirming Amanda’s custody, dated 

March 17, 2023, taking into consideration that the children were 

living with Donna.  The TPSA, which was signed by Amanda, 

Donna, and the LCDSS, specifically stated, “I [Amanda] understand 

that I still have custody of my children and still have decision 

making authority over their wellbeing needs” 

 39. The LCDSS had not and did not assert any custodial authority, whatsoever, 

over either child before they left North Carolina and re-established their residence in 

California. 
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 40. At Amanda’s request, Plaintiff came to North Carolina, and with Amanda’s 

permission and the LCDSS’s knowledge, Plaintiff and Faith flew back to California on 

April 3, 2023, with Plaintiff as the legal caretaker of both Ryan and Faith. 

 41. It is realleged that on April 5, 2023, two days later, the LCDSS contacted 

Plaintiff to confirm that the children were both safe and well and living with Plaintiff as 

their legal caretaker in California.  The LCDSS social worker, Valerie, who spoke with 

Plaintiff, Ryan, and Faith in a face to face virtual meeting, confirmed to her satisfaction 

that the children were safe and well and happy, and confirmed to Plaintiff that the 

LCDSS’s case regarding both children was closed. 

 42.  It is realleged that on April 6, 2023, the LCDSS sent the letter to Amanda 

regarding Ryan and Faith that stated: “We have completed the Family Assessment.  The 

following determination has been made:  No need of services…  Your case will be 

closed.” 

 43. It is necessary to reallege the foregoing because the LCDSS in the letter to 

the BCDSS stated: “Ms. Harris (referring to Donna, with whom Faith was living during 

the property dispute over Amanda’s home on Donna’s property) does not have custody, 

guardianship, or parental or Department permission to send the child to an unrelated 

person, especially one across the country.” 

 44. The statement is a blatant lie.  The fact that Pendleton later tried to get 

Amanda to deny giving permission to Plaintiff to take Faith home to live with Plaintiff 

and her brother in order to corroborate the false statement in the LCDSS letter is 
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reasonable proof that it is a lie.  Amanda, when she understood what Pendleton was 

trying to do, signed a Declaration, under penalty of perjury, to file in a North Carolina 

court stating that the LCDSS had lied in the letter to the BCDSS, and that Amanda had 

surely given Plaintiff permission to take Faith back to California.  Please see Exhibit 7. 

 45. The day after receiving the Fax from the LCDSS, two BCDSS social 

workers and two Butte County sheriff’s officers came to Plaintiff’s residence early.  They 

banged on the door, and threatened to take Faith on the basis of the fraudulently obtained 

Temporary Nonsecured Custody Order, and the LCDSS’s letter. 

46. They terrified Faith.  She was sobbing and clinging to Plaintiff in a death 

grip. 

 47. Plaintiff finally got the social workers and officers to listen, and then spent 

the next three hours being investigated, while calming Faith and Ryan.   

 48. The sheriff’s officers, after investigating, acknowledged that Plaintiff had 

lived in the same house in Chico since 2017, was a respected member of the community, 

and that the children were safe and well in Plaintiff’s care.  Then they left.   

 49. The BCDSS social workers stayed and continued to interact with Plaintiff 

and Ryan and Faith, and to conduct an even more extensive investigation of his fitness.  

They inspected Plaintiff’s home thoroughly. 

 50. After completing their investigation, the social workers from the BCDSS 

determined that the children were safe, well cared for, and happy, and that Plaintiff’s 
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home provided a satisfactory environment, and that the children should continue to reside 

in Plaintiff’s care and custody as their legal caretaker.   

  51. In Plaintiff’s presence the lead BCDSS social worker contacted the LCDSS 

by telephone and informed the LCDSS that the BCDSS was not going to remove either 

child from Plaintiff’s custody; and that both children were well and safe and happy. 

 52. The BCDSS prepared and issued a BCCSD Safety Plan Field Sheet 

confirming Plaintiff as Faith’s legal caretaker, substantiating Faith’s wellness and safety, 

and expressing the BCDSS’s approval of Faith remaining in Plaintiff’s care and custody 

as her legal caretaker.   

 53. In a follow-up telephone call with the LCDSS, in Plaintiff’s presence, the 

BCDSS lead social worker informed the LCDSS that the BCDSS had determined that 

none of the LCDSS social worker’s statements set forth in the sworn petition attached to 

the Temporary Order for Nonsecure Custody of Faith appeared to be true. 

 54. She told LCDSS personnel that it was clear that Faith had not been 

abandoned. 

 55. She told LCDSS personnel that it was clear that Faith was not exposed to a 

substantial risk of physical injury or sexual abuse. 

 56.  She told LCDSS personnel that it was clear that Faith was healthy and did 

not have any apparent need for medical treatment for a life threatening condition; 
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 57. She told LCDSS personnel that it was clear that approval of Faith in 

Plaintiff’s care and custody as her legal caretaker was justified, and was, in fact, the best 

solution. 

   58. Plaintiff and the BCDSS social worker decided it would be worthwhile for 

Plaintiff to go to North Carolina with both children to figure out what the LCDSS was 

doing, and why, and to straighten out the mess the LCDSS was causing.   

 59. The BCCSD Safety Plan Field Sheet, confirming that the children were safe 

and well in Plaintiff’s care and custody, that had been prepared by the BCDSS social 

worker, was signed by the BCDSS social worker and Plaintiff.  The BCDSS social 

worker faxed a signed copy to the LCDSS.  

 60. Plaintiff embarked for North Carolina two days later.  Plaintiff and the 

BCDSS informed the LCDSS that Plaintiff was returning to North Carolina with the 

children and they were enroute by automobile. 

 61. Perhaps fearing that their unlawful behavior and perjurious statements 

would be exposed upon Plaintiff’s coming to North Carolina, the LCDSS put in place an 

even more terrible plan to accomplish their dreadful conspiracy to obtain control of the 

children. 

 62. On the day after the fraudulently obtained five day Temporary Nonsecured 

Custody Order for Faith expired, Plaintiff, in a telephone call, told the LCDSS that he and 

the children had reached Mesquite, Nevada, over 800 miles East of Plaintiff’s home in 

California, and intended to continue to North Carolina. 
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 63.  After the LCDSS personnel talked with Plaintiff and both children on the 

conference call, Plaintiff was informed by the LCDSS personnel and the LCDSS 

attorney, Yelverton, that the LCDSS did not want Plaintiff to come back to North 

Carolina.  Plaintiff was directed by the LCDSS personnel and attorney to return with the 

children to California. 

 64. Plaintiff learned later that the LCDSS was aware that the fraudulently 

obtained Temporary Nonsecured Custody Order for Faith had expired, and the LCDSS 

did not want Plaintiff back in North Carolina where Plaintiff could easily uncover the 

LCDSS’s lies and reveal to the North Carolina court that Pendleton and Kelly had 

committed perjury and perpetrated a fraud on the court.   

 65. Unknown to Plaintiff, the LCDSS’s direction to Plaintiff to turn around and 

travel back to California was a trap.   

 66. Since the LCDSS’s effort with the fraudulently obtained Temporary 

Nonsecured Custody Order had failed to convince the BCDSS to remove the children 

from Plaintiff’s custody, and the Order had expired, the LCDSS had modified their plan 

to get the children. 

 67. There is a significant market for attractive children.  According to the U.S. 

Department of Health, there are 36 prospective adoptive parents in the United States for 

every child available for adoption and 37% of adoptions nationwide are by foster parents. 
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 68. The foster care system is an adoption pipeline.  The LCDSS designates who 

can become foster parents. 

 69. Foster parents of a child are given preference as adoptive parents for that 

child. 

 70. Not only does the LCDSS select foster parents, the LCDSS is also the 

agency that administers foster parent adoptions.   

 71. There is a significant opportunity and incentive for personnel in the LCDSS 

to profit from putting children in foster care with prospective adoptive parents. 

 72. As part of their monstrous plan to get the children, the LCDSS had called in 

a false Amber Alert claiming that Plaintiff had abducted Faith.    

 73. Pursuant to the LCDSS’s direction, Plaintiff turned around and started back 

for California with the children.   

 74. On the return trip, after a long drive, at 10:00 pm that night, Plaintiff had 

reached Williams, Colusa County, California, only about eighty miles from his home in 

Chico, California.   

 75. The children were tired and, instead of continuing, Plaintiff got some food 

and a motel room and prepared to get the children into bed.  Plaintiff called the BCDSS 

social worker and told her he was going to spend the night in Williams and asked to meet 

with her in the morning.  She was surprised he was back in California, and agreed to 

meet. 
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 76. Plaintiff was not aware that the Amber Alert network had located him by 

his use of a credit card to pay for the motel. 

77. At about 11:00 pm, there was a knock on the motel door.  When Plaintiff 

opened the door, there were approximately fifteen policemen, sheriff’s deputies, and 

highway patrolmen, hands on their guns, awaiting Plaintiff.  They told Plaintiff that 

Plaintiff had been accused of abducting Faith and placed on an Amber Alert.  Plaintiff 

was handcuffed.  The children were terrified. 

78. Over the next hour, handcuffed, Plaintiff explained the situation and all but 

one of the officers left.  The officer, a Williams, California, policeman, unhandcuffed 

Plaintiff and verified that the children were safe and well.  He even tried to calm Faith.  

He will testify that he could see that the children had not been abducted, but that he had 

to make the arrest anyway. 

79. About two hours later a social worker from the Colusa County, California, 

Department of Social Services (CCDSS) showed up.  Faith was terrified and sobbing as 

she was taken away by the CCDSS.  

80. Plaintiff has been through many crises in his life, including the death of two 

children and the death of Plaintiff’s wife, but the night the LCDSS stole Faith was the 

most traumatic of Plaintiff's life.  It did not get better.  The next day the LCDSS stole 

Ryan. 

 81. The Williams police officer allowed Plaintiff to call Plaintiff’s brother who 

lives in Willows, California, about 40 miles from Williams, California.  Plaintiff’s brother 
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and his wife came to Williams and drove Plaintiff’s automobile with Ryan back to their 

home. 

 82. Plaintiff was handcuffed again and transported in the cage of the Williams 

Police patrol vehicle to the Colusa County, California, jail, where he was incarcerated. 

 83. Plaintiff later learned that the LCDSS, in their effort to get rid of anyone 

who could obstruct the LCDSS’s monstrous plan to kidnap the children, had also falsely 

accused Donna of abducting Faith.   

 84. Plaintiff was accused by LCDSS of abducting Faith in California and 

Donna was accused by LCDSS of abducting Faith at the same time in North Carolina. 

 85. Based on the LCDSS’s lies, Donna had been arrested and had been 

incarcerated in the Lincoln County, North Carolina, jail on the LCDSS’s charge that she 

had abducted Faith.  Donna, 65 years old, was terrified.   

 86. Plaintiff was distraught to find that Donna, whom Amanda and the LCDSS 

had approved as Faith’s caretaker three weeks earlier, had been accused by the LCDSS of 

kidnapping Faith after the children were already in California and had been confirmed by 

the LCDSS to be safe and well in Plaintiff’s custody.  Please see Exhibit 8. 

 87. While Plaintiff and Donna were under false arrest and false imprisonment, 

the LCDSS arranged for the children to be stolen from California and brought back to 

North Carolina.   
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 88. The LCDSS had Faith forcibly taken from the motel the night when 

Plaintiff was falsely arrested.  The LCDSS had Ryan forcibly taken from Plaintiff’s 

brother's home, the next day, while Plaintiff was falsely jailed. 

 89. The Sherriff’s officers and the CCDSS personnel showed up at Plaintiff’s 

brother’s home and dragged away a terrified twelve year old boy, who had just watched 

his Papa get handcuffed and his little sister taken away.  Ryan has been traumatized and 

suffered depression ever since.  

 90 Yelverton had confirmed that Donna has letters of guardianship of Ryan 

when he flew back to California, and that Donna had sent him back to California to live 

with Plaintiff.  There was no legal basis, whatsoever, for the LCDSS to take Ryan.  

Please see Exhibit 9. 

 91. Plaintiff was never charged with a crime and was released from jail the day 

after being incarcerated.   

 92. Plaintiff was falsely accused, falsely made the subject of an Amber Alert, 

falsely arrested, and falsely jailed, all as a result of the LCDSS’s corrupt and malicious 

criminal acts. 

 93. Before abducting the children, the LCDSS admitted that the children were 

safe and well and happy under Plaintiff’s care and custody in their home in California. 

The BCDSS determined that the children were safe and well and happy under Plaintiff’s 

care and custody in their home in California. 
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 94. The LCDSS, since abducting Ryan and Faith and taking them to North 

Carolina, has not allowed either child to leave the state. 

 95. The LCDSS cannot produce a single document, not obtained by fraud and 

perjury, giving the LCDSS the right to do what they have done.   

 96. The LCDSS cannot cite a single legal basis for what they have done.   

 97. The LCDSS cannot cite a single rational reason for what they have done. 

 98. Neither Plaintiff, nor Amanda, nor Donna have ever been found or declared 

to be unfit parents.  The LCDSS has acknowledged that Plaintiff has acted in loco 

parentis as the children’s de facto father and legal caretaker and has exercised custody 

over both children for years, and that the children were in Plaintiff’s custody when they 

were abducted by the LCDSS. 

 99. The LCDSS perpetrated fraud on Judge Brad Champion in the General 

Court of Justice, District Court Division, of Lincoln County, North Carolina, and used 

Judge Champion’s perjuriously obtained Order in File No. 23JA34, issued on April 6, 

2023, to commit fraud on a sister agency, the BCDSS, in California, and as a basis for 

issuing a false Amber Alert against Plaintiff, and falsely accusing Plaintiff, causing his 

arrest and incarceration without charges, and falsely accusing Donna, and for illegally 

taking custody of two innocent children, Ryan and Faith, and illegally placing them in 

foster homes and refusing to release them to their family and guardian, and for illegally 

restraining them from leaving North Carolina, and for committing multiple criminal acts. 
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 100. Since committing perjury to obtain an order of custody for Faith, the 

LCDSS has done everything conceivably possible to injure Plaintiff and Ryan and Faith, 

and to injure Amanda, their mother, and Donna, their grandmother and Ryan’s guardian.  

JOINDER 

 101. A similar question of law and fact exists with regard to the liability of each 

of the defendants, based upon each of their participation in abducting two innocent 

children from Plaintiff in California, and their participation in illegally transporting the 

children across the United States to North Carolina, and their participation in illegally 

holding the children hostage and refusing to return them to Plaintiff. 

INJUNCTIVE RELIEF SOUGHT 

 102. An injunction requiring the LCDSS to stop all proceedings related to 

the children, and ordering the LCDSS to return the children to Plaintiff, with 

whom they were legally residing when they were abducted, is critically necessary 

to prevent the LCDSS from irreparably damaging Ryan and Faith and Plaintiff 

further. 

 103. Plaintiff is a fit caretaker and custodian for the children , and the 

children are well and safe and happy in Plaintiff’s care in California . 

 104. The LCDSS did not acquire control over the children legally or for 

any legitimate reason.   

 105. The defendants cannot produce a single reason or a scintilla of 

evidence that suggests that such an injunction should not be granted.   
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 106. It is documented that the LCDSS suborned perjury, perpetrating a 

fraud on a North Carolina, Lincoln County court by claiming Faith to be in North 

Carolina, in need of child protection, and under the custody of the LCDSS when, 

in fact, the LCDSS had issued a letter the same day the perjurious petition was 

filed, confirming that there was no need of child protective services for Faith or 

Ryan and that the LCDSS had terminated the involvement of the LCDSS with 

Faith and Ryan. 

 107. Ordering the LCDSS to return the children to Plaintiff will have no 

negative consequences whatsoever.  The children will be back in the home from 

which they were stolen, and which the LCDSS and the BCDSS found to be a fit 

place for them to reside with Plaintiff. 

 108. A Temporary Restraining Order and a Preliminary Injunction is 

necessary. 

103. The LCDSS, an uncaring, corrupt governmental agency, and a legion of co -

conspirators, caused Plaintiff to be falsely arrested so they could kidnap Plaintiff’s five 

year old darling, who Plaintiff loves more than his life.  The LCDSS managed to 

arrange to have her torn from Plaintiff’s arms in the middle of the night as Plaintiff, 

handcuffed, helplessly watched them turn her life and his upside down.   

104. The defendants have devastated Ryan, who the LCDSS stole the day after 

the LCDSS stole Faith.  Plaintiff raised three other sons and one stepson, and none ever 

received more love than Plaintiff has for Ryan.  It is reciprocated.  
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105. The LCDSS tore Ryan, an adored grandson, from Plaintiff’s custody, 

disrupting Ryan’s schooling and creating an anger in him that no child should be forced 

to endure or overcome. 

106. The latest LCDSS ploy hurting Ryan is the LCDSS’s proposal in the 

hearing on September 19, 2023, that he be torn by the LCDSS for the second time this 

year from his school, where currently he is enjoying an “A-“ average and from Donna’s 

home and sent to an unnamed military type boarding school, which in the view of his 

Papa, who has successfully loved him and carefully home schooled him through four 

grades with an average class grade of “A”, will destroy him.  

107.  The LCDSS has stated that they know what is best for the children.  

Considering the LCDSS’s effort to supplant the wisdom of the family with their own, 

the admonition of the Supreme Court of North Carolina in Price v. Howard, 484 S.E. 2d 

528 (N.C.1997) is applicable.  Speaking to pompous martinets populating county 

departments of social services who think they know better than families how to raise 

children, the supreme court stated “…We have recognized on numerous occasions that 

the relationship between parent and child is constitutionally protected…. The custody, 

care and nurture of the child reside first in the parents…. The Court has found that the 

relationship of love and duty in a recognized family unit is… entitled to constitutional 

protection….  The importance of the familial relationship, to the individuals involved 

and to the society, stems from the emotional attachments that derive from the intimacy 

of daily association… We have little doubt that the Due Process Clause would be 

offended ‘if a State were to attempt to force the breakup of a natural family,,, without 

some showing of unfitness, and for the sole reason that to do so was thought to be in the 
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children’s best interest…. it is not within the power of… a social agency, to make 

significant decisions concerning the custody of children, merely because it could make 

a better decision or disposition…. the State,,, has not displaced the parent in right or 

responsibility…  Indeed , the courts and the law would, under existing constitutional 

principles, be powerless to supplant parents except for grievous cause or necessity….”    

108. The North Carolina Supreme Court in Price v. Howard, ibid, quoted the statement 

of the Court of Appeals of New York using constitutional principles in Bennett v. 

Jeffreys, 40 N.Y.2d 543, 356 N.E.2d 277, 387 N.Y.S.2d 821 (1976) 

“…t]he resolution of cases must not provide incentives for those likely to take 

the law into their own hands. Thus, those who obtain custody of children 

unlawfully, particularly by kidnapping… must be deterred.  Society may not 

reward, except at its peril, the lawless….”  (Emphasis added.) 

 

 109. The LCDSS obtained custody of both children unlawfully by kidnapping 

them from Plaintiff, their legal caretaker in California, and unlawfully transporting them 

to North Carolina, where the LCDSS is unlawfully holding them hostage.  Plaintiff, the 

children’s mother and Ryan’s guardian, the children’s grandmother, have all demanded 

the return of the children by the LCDSS to Plaintiff’s home in California.  The LCDSS has 

unlawfully refused to return the children to Plaintiff’s care, or to allow them to be 

returned to Plaintiff’s care.   

110. It is in the children’s best interest that an injunctive order be issued 

restricting the LCDSS from continuing to exert control over the children and requiring 

the LCDSS to return the children to Plaintiff.  Plaintiff, Donna, Amanda, Ryan, and Faith 

agree that it is currently in the children’s best interest that both children be returned to 

Plaintiff’s care and custody in California.  The lawless LCDSS should be forced to do the 

right thing and return the children to Plaintiff, from whom they were stolen. 
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 111. The abduction of two children from their legal caretaker in California by the 

LCDSS, and the refusal to release them by the LCDSS, is in furtherance of a criminal 

conspiracy.   

112. The defendants must be deterred.  The lawless LCDSS and the other defendants in 

this action, must not be rewarded for their unlawful acts.  

 113. The stated purpose of the Department of Social Services of Lincoln County, North 

Carolina, as set forth in the LCDSS website, is to “assist… in providing a safe, nurturing home 

environment for the children…. “  The LCDSS is not doing that.  The LCDSS has torn the 

children from their home in California, is interfering with Ryan’s schooling, and is making sweet 

little Faith cry every day. 

114. The LCDSS was not fulfilling its purpose when it engaged in the unlawful acts 

enumerated herein.  The purpose of the LCDSS is not to unlawfully abduct children from 

parents, guardians or caretakers who have a lawful right to care for the children, or to unlawfully 

hold children hostage under the LCDSS’s control and unlawfully place children in foster homes 

and refuse to return children to their parents, guardians or caretakers who have a lawful right to 

care for the children, or to overlook, excuse, disregard, countenance and condone stealing 

children and exercising unlawful control over children based upon lies and court orders 

fraudulently obtained, or to ignore the welfare of children and unlawfully remove them from 

their families and unlawfully refuse to return them to their families, or to issue a false Amber 

Alert against Plaintiff, particularly when the LCDSS and officials and employees of the LCDSS 

are aware that there was no abduction and that the child claimed by the LCDSS to have been 

abducted is safe and well, and that the person against whom the Amber Alert is issued is the legal 

caretaker of the child and has legal custody, or to charge with abduction Donna, a person 
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approved by the LCDSS as the child’s caretaker, and who is a member of the child’s family with 

whom the child’s mother has placed the child, and who is the legal caretaker and has custody 

under state law, or to countenance and condone a fraudulent Custody Order known to have been 

obtained as a result of perjury after the LCDSS had closed the case on the children.   

115. Doing those criminal acts is outside the scope of LCDSS duties and 

responsibilities.  The LCDSS employees who have participated in any manner in doing so are 

acting outside the scope of their employment.  The LCDSS and other defendants have committed 

and are committing illegal acts, none of which are part of their legal duties and responsibilities. 

 116. The defendants’ illegal acts, done with malice and corrupt intent, were the cause 

of Plaintiff’s injuries and damages. 

 117. Expedited discovery is necessary to determine the identity of the 

individual perpetrators and their motives and actions in unlawfully issuing an Amber 

Alert against Plaintiff and having him arrested and jailed, with no charges; and in 

unlawfully charging Donna with abducting Faith and having her arrested and jailed; and 

in abducting the children in California; and in transporting them from California to 

North Carolina; and in placing the children in foster homes; and in using court orders 

known to have been unlawfully obtained; and in forbidding Donna from returning Ryan 

to Plaintiff; and in refusing to return Faith to Plaintiff; and in depriving the children 

and Plaintiff of rights under color of law.   

 118. The foregoing enumerated acts of the LCDSS and the defendants have 

been injurious and damaging and emotionally devastating to Plaintiff.  

 119. The acts of defendants as enumerated herein were part of an illegal 

conspiracy and violated state and federal RICO statutes, and violated 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  
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 120. The lives of two children are at risk as a consequence of the actions of the 

LCDSS.  The LCDSS is perpetuating irreparable injury to Plaintiff, and Amanda, and 

Donna, and Ryan, and Faith by continuing to unlawfully hold the children as hostages in 

North Carolina after kidnapping them from Plaintiff in California.   

121. In the process of balancing equities between Plaintiff and defendants, there 

are no elements of fairness and justice that would suggest that using fraud and subterfuge, 

as defendants have done to obtain control over vulnerable children, should be rewarded, 

or that any equities fall on the defendants’ side of the scale.   

122. All of the equities that can be divined from the facts of this case fall on the 

side of reuniting the children and Plaintiff, and restoring the happy, successful 

relationship between the children and their Papa, their mother, and their grandmother 

which the children enjoyed prior to being irreparably damaged by the criminal acts of the 

defendants.   

123 There is no basis in reason or law to allow the defendants to continue to 

interfere with the children’s happiness and wellbeing.  Plaintiff has never been found to 

be a person unsuited to care for the children.  He has cared for them successfully for their 

entire lives.  He has been recognized under the law and by the LCDSS and BCDSS as the 

persons to whom the children’s custody belongs.   
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124. An injunction restraining the LCDSS and the defendants, which have 

shown by their actions that they are untruthful, immoral, and willing to violate the law, is 

in the public interest.  

125.  An injunctive order should be issued enjoining the LCDSS from any 

further actions with regard to the children and ordering them to return the children to the 

custody of Plaintiff in California immediately.   

126. It is in the public interest to return these precious children to their family 

and to the Papa that has provided them with everything they have needed, including great 

love, from their birth. 

REQUEST FOR EXPEDITED DISCOVERY 

127. Because of the cloak of secrecy that surrounds the misuse of power 

by a government agency dealing with minors, the LCDSS has been able to 

conceal and get away with their horrible acts.  

128. Because of the position of power that the LCDSS occupies, the 

defendants are able to shield themselves from scrutiny. 

129.  Because of their nearly unlimited power over children and families, 

and the manner in which they have lied and committed perjury, and continue to 

lie, it is only by discovery in this action that it will be possible to bring to light 

the depth and extent of the malicious and corrupt behavior of the defendants 

toward Ryan and Faith and, by extension, Plaintiff and Amanda and Donna.   
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130. Data, documents, and information necessary to prosecute this action are 

being purposely and maliciously withheld from Plaintiff by the LCDSS, and particularly 

Hillman, and Yelverton.  Such data, information, and documents are needed to support 

the motion for a preliminary and permanent injunction to prevent the continuing injury 

and crimes the LCDSS is perpetrating upon Ryan and Faith. 

QUALIFIED IMMUNITY 

 131. The unlawful acts engaged in by the LCDSS and employees and officers 

and personnel thereof and the conspiracy engaged in by the LCDSS and employees and 

officers and personnel thereof to unlawfully take children from the custody of their 

caretaker and to use the power of the LCDSS, as a government agency to commit crimes, 

were done ostensibly under color of law.   

 132. However, the unlawful acts were not within the official duty of the LCDSS 

and were not for any legitimate governmental purpose.   

 133. Committing perjury, defrauding the courts, making false accusations, 

illegally taking children, and engaging in a conspiracy to unlawfully put children in foster 

homes are not within the scope of legal duties of the county or the county agency, and 

were not for any governmental purpose. 

 134. None of the unlawful acts of the LCDSS or the unlawful acts of employees 

or officials or personnel of the LCDSS were the type of acts of which public policy 

deems worth granting immunity.  None of the unlawful acts involved compliance with a 

basic governmental policy, program, or objective. 
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 135. Though the acts of the LCDSS and Lincoln County and officers and 

employees thereof were purported by them to be done under color of law, they were 

criminal. 

MONETARY DAMAGES SOUGHT 

 137. Plaintiff will prove monetary damages at trial, including economic, 

compensatory, and punitive damages, as warranted by the facts and the law. 

 138. The jury will be asked to put a price on the trauma and effect of having 

children precious to Plaintiff stolen and held hostage; on the trauma and effect of Plaintiff 

having been unjustly accused, unjustly arrested, and unjustly jailed; on the value and 

effect of Plaintiff losing months of precious children’s lives, never to be regained; of the 

value and effect of the emotional trauma of seeing loved ones unjustly accused, unjustly 

arrested, and unjustly jailed; of the value and effect of the trauma and emotional distress 

of the illegal acts of the LCDSS; of the value and effect of having an uncaring, corrupt 

government agency rob you of your rights; of the value and effect of being denied 

watching the magical stages of your five year old’s development, or your twelve year 

olds computer programming or skate boarding, or coming home from school beaming 

with an “A”; of the value and effect of not being able to tuck them in or fix their favorite 

meals; of value and effect of not being able to share their birthdays, or Halloween, or 

Christmas, or…., or…, or….; of the value and effect of having your face splashed all 

over the print media and social media as a child abductor; of the value and effect of 

having your friends calling to find out why you are being portrayed as a criminal; of the 
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value and effect of having a child torn from the care of your brother and stolen; of the 

value and effect of months of worry about what is happening to children you have raised; 

of the value and effect of watching corrupt, lying social workers making rules designed to 

entrap your children and their mother and grandmother; of the value of the disruption of 

your life at an advanced age, of the value of etc., etc., etc.  

   139.  Plaintiff is seeking damages of Twenty Five Million Dollars 

($25,000.000.00). 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION – OUTRAGEOUS INFLICTION OF SEVERE 

EMOTIONAL INJURY ON PLAINTIFF, THE CHILDREN, THEIR MOTHER, 

AND THEIR GRANDMOTHER 

 Paragraphs 6 - 126 are realleged and incomporated in this cause of action. 

 140. The defendants have intentionally or recklessly inflicted severe emotional 

distress, or were certain, or substantially certain, that such distress would result from the 

defendants’ conduct.   

 141. The defendants’ issuance of a false Amber Alert against Plaintiff directly 

resulted in Plaintiff being met late at night by multiple law enforcement officers, hands 

on their guns, who accused him of kidnapping his adored Faith, then forcibly removed 

her, sobbing and protesting, from Plaintiff’s care, causing Plaintiff to suffer nearly 

unbearable anguish. 

  142. Branding Plaintiff as a child abductor directly caused Plaintiff to be 

handcuffed while Ryan and Faith watched in horror. 
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 143. The defendants’ issuance of a false Amber Alert against Plaintiff directly 

resulted in Plaintiff being arrested, booked, and incarcerated and was so extreme and 

outrageous as to exceed all possible bounds of decency.  Such an action, issuing a false 

Amber Alert against a law abiding citizen, is atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a 

civilized community. 

   144. The actions of the defendants caused Plaintiff severe emotional distress.  

The emotional distress suffered by the plaintiff was so severe that no reasonable man 

could be expected to endure it. 

 145. The Colusa County police officer that arrested, handcuffed, transported 

Plaintiff in a cage in a police vehicle, and booked Plaintiff into the Colusa County jail 

will testify that Plaintiff was tearing his hair out from the moment Faith was taken from 

him.   

 146. The inmates in the jail cell on the night of Plaintiff’s incarceration will be 

identified from jail records and will testify that Plaintiff was sobbing and severely 

depressed. 

 147. Plaintiff was released from jail with no charges ever filed against Plaintiff, 

because he was not guilty, the next day.   

 148. The actions of the defendants before Plaintiff was released, in forcibly 

taking Plaintiff’s twelve year old Ryan from Plaintiff’s brother’s home, were so extreme 

and outrageous as to exceed all possible bounds of decency.  The actions of the 

defendants were atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community.   
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 149. The actions of the defendants in forcibly taking Ryan, when made known to 

Plaintiff caused Plaintiff severe emotional distress.  The emotional distress suffered by 

the plaintiff was so severe that no reasonable man could be expected to endure it. 

 150. Plaintiff’s brother and his wife will testify that Plaintiff was so distraught 

they feared for him and worried about his ability to drive safely from their home to his 

home. 

 151. Donna and Amanda and friends and school administrators and teachers and 

others who Plaintiff was forced, because of their relationship to the children, to inform 

about what the LCDSS had done, will testify that Plaintiff was so distraught he could not 

sleep, looked terrible, was so sad, and so clearly in agony they worried if he could ever 

recover. 

 152. The effect on Plaintiff of defendants’ actions in continuing to hold Faith in 

a foster home, refusing to return her to Plaintiff, and refusing to allow Plaintiff to have 

any contact with her, and the effect on Plaintiff of watching Faith, when Amanda 

surreptitiously put her on a video call, as she sobbed for her Papa, her little lips quivering 

and her eyes full of tears, and the effect on Plaintiff of not being able to offer Faith any 

relief, and the defendants’ actions in refusing to allow Ryan to leave North Carolina and 

return to his Papa, even though Ryan is in the custody of Donna, his guardian, and both 

have requested permission to allow Ryan to return home to his Papa over and over, and 

the defendants’ continued harassment of Ryan and Faith and Amanda and Donna, and the 

defendants’ threats to disrupt Ryan’s schooling and threats to take him from Donna and 
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put him in a foster home, were and continue to be outrageous in that the defendants, by 

their actions, intentionally inflicted and are inflicting emotional distress on Plaintiff and 

Ryan and Faith and Amanda and Donna.  

 153. The defendants, whether intentionally or recklessly, are inflicting severe 

emotional distress, and know that such distress results from their conduct. 

 154. The actions of the defendants have caused and are causing Plaintiff severe 

emotional distress.  The emotional distress suffered by the plaintiff was and is so severe 

that no reasonable man could be expected to endure it. 

 155. The defendants’ actions were done and are now being done intentionally 

with complete disregard of how their actions affect Plaintiff, and how their actions are 

affecting Plaintiff’s adored Ryan and Faith.  The distress and depression caused by the 

defendants affect Plaintiff and cause Plaintiff severe emotional anguish. 

 156. The defendants have acted and are acting individually, independent of their 

positions in the LCDSS, in ways injurious to Plaintiff and Ryan and Faith, and by 

extension, Amanda and Donna.   

 157. The defendants have acted and are abusing their power in ways that they 

know have caused and are causing severe emotional distress to Plaintiff, Ryan, Faith, 

Amanda, and Donna. 

 158. The LCDSS personnel are so incredibly arrogant that, because the LCDSS 

is a governmental agency with nearly unlimited legal power and authority over children, 
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the defendants do whatever they want to do, even when it is extremely damaging to 

children and their families and causes severe emotional distress.   

 159. The LCDSS mantra seems to be, “You will do what we say and accept what 

we do.  PERIOD!  Even when we know, and have admitted that it is in the best interests 

of the children to be together in the home where they have grown up with their Papa, we 

can take them.  Even though we gave you notice that we formally ended our involvement 

in the children’s lives, we can take them.  Even though the children are living in a 

different state when we abduct them, we can take them.  Even though we must lie to the 

court in order to do so, we can take them.  We can take them from California to North 

Carolina and throw them into our foster care system.  Try and stop us.”  The emotional 

distress is nearly unbearable. 

 160. Since the LCDSS has nearly unlimited power, and caretakers are nearly 

powerless, and the courts in North Carolina are impotent when the LCDSS commits 

perjury, the only way to challenge the criminal behavior of the LCDSS is to initiate a 

lawsuit such as this action. 

 161. The LCDSS attitude is, “if we decide we want to bring the children under 

our control and throw them into a foster care system in North Carolina, we have the right 

to break any law or commit any horrible act to impose our will.”  That is what the 

LCDSS has done in this case.  The actions of the defendants have caused unbelievably 

severe emotional distress. 
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 162. The foregoing description of how the LCDSS operates shows the LCDSS’s 

reckless disregard for the consequences of their criminal actions.  However, the conduct 

of the LCDSS in this case is more than that.  It is not just a reckless disregard, but an 

intentional infliction of emotional harm in furtherance of the LCDSS conspiracy to steal 

the children.   

 163. The defendants’ conduct was and is egregious and outrageous.  Any 

reasonable person would say that it was and is extreme.  It is exactly as though the 

defendants want Plaintiff, Ryan, Faith, Amanda, and Donna to suffer.  The emotional 

distress caused by the actions of the defendants is such that almost anyone would find it 

unbearable.  It has been going on since the LCDSS caused the Plaintiff to be arrested and 

stole the children from Plaintiff. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION – DEFAMATION 

Paragraphs 6 - 126 are realleged and incomporated in this cause of action. 

 164. On April 11th  or 12th , 2023, the LCDSS contacted the Amber Alert 

network and issued an EMA report that Plaintiff had abducted Faith. 

 165. The LCDSS knew that Plaintiff had not abducted Faith and had verified 

that Faith and Ryan were both safe and well with Plaintiff. 

 166. The LCDSS knew that the BCDSS had confirmed that Faith was safe and 

well with Plaintiff, and had refused to remove Faith from Plaintiff’s custody, and had 

executed a Safety Plan that approved Faith in Plaintiff’s custody that had been faxed to 
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the LCDSS and was in the LCDSS’s possession at the time the LCDSS falsely reported 

to the Amber Alert network that Plaintiff had abducted Faith. 

 143. It is estimated that, within the first twenty four hours after the Amber Alert 

was posted over 4,800,000 people had seen it and reacted to it. 

 144. The defendants’ statements to the EMR Amber Alert network were false 

and the defendants knew they were false. 

 145.  The Plaintiff was libeled and slandered as a result of the defendants’ 

maliciously false statements, which they knew would go to every law enforcement 

agency, every social media outlet and television station.  The defendants made a point of 

identifying Plaintiff by name. 

 146. Making false statements such as the defendants made were a perfect way to 

trash Plaintiff’s reputation.  The defendants succeeded in doing so.   

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION – INTENTIONALLY CASTING PLAINTIFF IN A 

FALSE LIGHT 

Paragraphs 6 – 126 are realleged and incomporated in this cause of action. 

 147. Not only did the defendants defame Plaintiff, they also cast Plaintiff in a 

false light.  The defendants well knew that Plaintiff was not a kidnapper or child 

abductor.  However, they published that Plaintiff was a kidnapper and child abductor.  

Not only that, they identified the Plaintiff as kidnapping his own step grand daughter, 

who everyone that had ever heard of Plaintiff knew he had cared for since her birth. 
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 148. The portrayal of Plaintiff was highly offensive and embarrassing.  The 

defendants published the offensive statements and representations with reckless, or no 

regard for their offensiveness. 

 149. The defendants purposely created false negative and disgusting impressions 

of Plaintiff in an intentional effort to injure him and to place him in a highly negative and 

offensive false light. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION – DENIAL OF THE RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS 

Paragraphs 6 - 126 are realleged and incomporated in this cause of action. 

 150. As a matter of due process, an accused has a constitutional right, as well as 

a regulatory right, to fair and impartial treatment under the law. 

 151. The defendants ignored basic tenets of fairness when the defendants 

accused Plaintiff of kidnapping Faith, resulting, as should reasonably have been expected 

in the accusation, arrest and incarceration of Plaintiff who was never charged with a 

crime. 

 152. The defendants’ actions were criminal, malicious, and corrupt, and intended 

to severely injure Plaintiff.  The defendants succeeded. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION – ACTIONS IN VIOLATION OF THE RICO 

STATUTES 

Paragraphs 6 - 126 are realleged and incomporated in this cause of action. 

153. The defendants have, through a pattern of racketeering activity, directly or 

indirectly, participated in operations, or conspired to do the aforementioned in an 
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enterprise that affects interstate or foreign commerce and Plaintiff is entitled to treble 

damages, court costs, attorney's fees, and equitable relief as a result of injuries suffered 

by Plaintiff as a consequence of defendants’ criminal activities. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION – VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

Paragraphs 6 - 126 are realleged and incomporated in this cause of action. 

154 Under 42 U.S.C. 42 § 1983 every person who, under color of law, subjects, 

or causes to be subjected, any citizen to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or 

immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an 

action at law.  Each of the defendants is liable under the statute. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION – TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH 

PARENTAL AND/OR CUSTODIAL RIGHTS 

Paragraphs 6 – 127 are realleged and incomporated in this cause of action. 

 155. Plaintiff’s relationship with Ryan and Faith, established over their entire 

lifetimes, is a constitutionally protected and valuable right, protected by common law. 

 156. Plaintiff’s claim that the defendants should pay damages for interfering 

with and infringing upon Plaintiff’s custodial rights, and thereby injuring Plaintiff in 

congruent with the fundamentally decent values that must be upheld by a civilized 

society. 

 157. Plaintiff has a fundamental right to establish and maintain a custodial 

relationship with both Ryan and Faith, and has done so, and the defendants’ interference 
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with that relationship willfully and intentionally interfered with Plaintiff’s custodial 

relationship with both children. 

 158. The defendants, by removing the children and detaining the child from 

returning to Plaintiff without Plaintiff’s consent, and by preventing Plaintiff from 

exercising Plaintiff’s custodial rights, caused harm to the custodial, emotional, and 

established parental relationship and damages resulted from the defendants’ criminal 

activities. 

 159. Plaintiff is entitled to recover from defendants compensatory damages, 

based upon money Plaintiff lost establishing custodial rights, plus punitive damages. 

 160. The defendants had no good faith belief that their malicious, corrupt, and 

criminal behavior, and their interference with Plaintiff’s custodial rights, were necessary 

to protect the children in any respect. 

 161. The defendants did not reasonably believe in good faith that Plaintiff did 

not have a right to establish and maintain a custodial relationship with the children. 

 162. A consideration claimed by Plaintiff in assessing damages for defendants’ 

interference with Plaintiff’s custodial rights is that the defendants actively misled the 

courts, the departments of social services, and the law enforcement agencies with 

deliberate lies in order to create the tortious interference with Plaintiff’s custodial rights 

over the children and to damage Plaintiff’s long established relationship with them. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
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 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court enter Judgment for 

Plaintiff against defendants, and each of them, individually and jointly, and provide 

Relief for Plaintiff as follows: 

 A. Grant all the relief requested in this Complaint to the extent permitted by 

law; and 

 B. Grant a Temporary Restraining Order, Preliminary Injunction, and 

Permanent Injunction Ordering any and all of the defendants to immediately stop any 

actions, of whatsoever kind or nature, relating to Ryan Robert Harris and Faith Leigh 

Harris, or either of them, in North Carolina, or elsewhere; and  

 C. Order the defendants to immediately desist from exercising any custody or 

control or involvement over or in the lives and persons of Ryan Robert Harris and Faith 

Leigh Harris, or either of them, and to immediately cease and desist from initiating, 

pursuing, and participating in any and all actions, including but not limited to court 

proceedings, foster care, medical care, schooling, or custodial care of any kind relating to 

Ryan Robert Harris and Faith Leigh Harris, or either of them, in North Carolina, and all 

other states; and 

 D. Order the Lincoln County Department of Social Services to immediately 

safely transport Ryan Robert Harris and Faith Leigh Harris to Chico, California and 

deliver Ryan Robert Harris and Faith Leigh Harris to Plaintiff. 
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 E. Order that Defendants, individually and collectively be found liable to 

Plaintiff for the sum of Twenty Five Million Dollars ($25,000,000.00), and order the 

Defendants to pay such sum to Plaintiff immediately. 

 F.   Order such other injunctive relief as is necessary to compel performance of 

the obligations imposed on the Defendants by the orders and judgment of this Court. 

 G. Order such other relief as to this Court shall seem just and proper. 

 

REQUEST FOR JURY TRIAL 

Under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 38 (b), Plaintiff demands a jury trial on any 

and all issues triable by right by a jury. 

 

VERIFICATION 

 I, Orion Douglas Memmott, declare as follows:  

 I am the Plaintiff in this case, a citizen of the United States of America, and a 

resident of the State of California. 

 I have personal knowledge of the truthfulness of the statements in this Verified 

Complaint for Injunctive Relief and for a Civil Case and declare them to be true, except 

for those statements on information and belief and, as to those statements, I believe them 

to be true. 

 If called on to testify I would competently testify as to the matters stated herein.  
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 I verify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America 

and the State of California that the foregoing declaration is true and correct. 

Executed this 19th day of October, 2023 

 

 

       /s/ Orion Douglas Memmott            

       Orion Douglas Memmott, Pro Se 
       309 St. Michael Ct. 

       Chico, Butte County, California 95973 

       Telephone: (831) 207-6782 

       Email: douglasmemm@gmail.com 

 

 

CERTIFICATION 

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11, by signing below, I certify to the best of my 

knowledge, information and belief that this Complaint: (1) is not being presented for an 

improper purpose, such as to harass, cause unnecessary delay, or needlessly increase the 

cost of litigation; (2) is supported by existing law or by a nonfrivolous argument for 

extending, modifying or reversing existing law; (3) the factual contentions have 

evidentiary support or, if specifically so identified, will likely have evidentiary support 

after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery; and (4) the 

complaint otherwise complies with the requirements of Rule 11. 

Executed this 19th day of October, 2023        

       

       /s/ Orion Douglas Memmott 

       Orion Douglas Memmott Pro Se 
       309 St. Michael Ct. 

       Chico, Butte County, California 95973 

       Telephone: (831) 207-6782 

       Email: douglasmemm@gmail.com 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

COMPLAINT 

MEMMOTT V. DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES OF LINCOLN COUNTY, NC 

 

EXHIBIT ONE 

 

The LCDSS’s letter determining there was no need for services and closing the case. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

COMPLAINT 

MEMMOTT V. DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES OF LINCOLN COUNTY, NC 

 

EXHIBIT TWO 

 

Pendleton’s Text confirming the children were taken by Plaintiff to California with 

Amanda’s permission and LCDSS’s knowledge. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

COMPLAINT 

MEMMOTT V. DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES OF LINCOLN COUNTY, NC 

 

EXHIBIT THREE 

 

LCDSS social worker, Valerie’s, Appointment on April 5, 2023, for a virtual meeting with 

Plaintiff, Ryan, and Faith. 

 

 

 

  



 
COMPLAINT:  MEMMOTT V. DEPT.  OF SOCIAL SERVICES OF LINCOLN COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA, ET. AL. 

55 
 

 

  



 
COMPLAINT:  MEMMOTT V. DEPT.  OF SOCIAL SERVICES OF LINCOLN COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA, ET. AL. 

56 
 

 

 



 
COMPLAINT:  MEMMOTT V. DEPT.  OF SOCIAL SERVICES OF LINCOLN COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA, ET. AL. 

57 
 

  



 
COMPLAINT:  MEMMOTT V. DEPT.  OF SOCIAL SERVICES OF LINCOLN COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA, ET. AL. 

58 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

COMPLAINT 

MEMMOTT V. DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES OF LINCOLN COUNTY, NC 

 

EXHIBIT FOUR 

 

The North Carolina court’s April 6, 2023, Temporary Nonsecure Custody Order for Faith. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

COMPLAINT 

MEMMOTT V. DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES OF LINCOLN COUNTY, NC 

 

EXHIBIT FIVE 

 

The LCDSS’s confirmation that Amanda had custody of Faith when she sent Faith to 

California to live with Plaintiff.  (See Page 7 of the Exhibit.) 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

COMPLAINT 

MEMMOTT V. DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES OF LINCOLN COUNTY, NC 

 

EXHIBIT SIX 

 

The letter from the LCDSS to the BCDSS requesting that the BCDSS go get Faith. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

COMPLAINT 

MEMMOTT V. DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES OF LINCOLN COUNTY, NC 

 

EXHIBIT SEVEN 

 

Amanda’s Affidavit under penalty of perjury. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

COMPLAINT 

MEMMOTT V. DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES OF LINCOLN COUNTY, NC 

 

EXHIBIT EIGHT 

 

Donna’s Affidavit under penalty of perjury. 
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N THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

COMPLAINT 

MEMMOTT V. DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES OF LINCOLN COUNTY, NC 

 

EXHIBIT NINE 

 

Donna’s Letters of Guardianship over Ryan. 
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